RECEIVED 05-27-2016

In The Supreme Court of Wiskinsin

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT,

v.

DAVID W. HOWES, DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT.

On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable John W. Markson, Presiding, Case No. 2013CF1692

OPENING BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

RYAN J. WALSH Chief Deputy Solicitor General State Bar #1091821

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 walshrj@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-1332

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Testing an unconscious driver's blood-alcohol content without a warrant, when authorized under Wisconsin's implied-consent law, is reasonable. Both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have repeatedly concluded that, by "operating a motor vehicle within [a] State" with such a law (which is all fifty), drivers "consent to [blood-alcohol content] testing if they are . . . detained on suspicion of a drunk-driving offense." *Missouri v. McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1566 (2013) (plurality). That is what makes those laws effective "legal tools": they allow States to enforce their drunk-driving laws "without undertaking warrantless *nonconsensual* blood draws." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Those decisions are correct. A defendant may imply consent to a search by conduct, such as driving. And that consent is valid so long as it is not coerced. Here, it is entirely voluntary. The law does not force anyone to drive. Nor, more importantly, does it require anyone who chooses to drive to continue his consent. A motorist who is conscious and otherwise capable of withdrawing consent may do so at any time. If the police find him unconscious, the presumption that he has not withdrawn consent may be rebutted by circumstances suggesting otherwise (such as a notarized letter in his front pocket objecting to a search). A test premised on an unrebutted presumption of consent is constitutional.

ISSUE PRESENTED

By statute, motorists on Wisconsin highways give their revocable consent to tests of their blood-alcohol content if they are detained for a drunk-driving offense. Wis. Stat. If the motorist is found "unconscious or § 343.305(2). otherwise incapable of withdrawing consent," then the officer may "presume[]" that the motorist has not "withdrawn [his] consent" (unless the circumstances rebut that presumption) and may perform the test. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b). Is a warrantless blood test of an unconscious drunk-driving suspect, premised on the unrebutted presumption of the suspect's implied consent under the statute, an "unreasonable search" under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution?1

The circuit court answered, yes.

ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

In light of the issue's state-wide importance, this case is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

¹ This question is different from that presented in *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, No. 14-1468 (U.S. cert. granted Dec. 11, 2015), currently pending in the U.S. Supreme Court. The issue in *Birchfield* is "[w]hether, in the absence of a warrant, a State may make it a crime for a person to refuse to take a chemical test to detect the presence of alcohol in the person's blood." Petition for Writ of Certiorari, *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, No.14-1468 (June 12, 2015), 2015 WL 3746432, at *i.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Tragedy Of Drunk Driving In Wisconsin

Drunk driving "continues to exact a terrible toll on our society." *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1565 (plurality). On average, it takes one life in the United States every 52 minutes. *See* NHTSA, *Alcohol-Impaired Driving*, Traffic Safety Facts, 1 (December 2014), http://www-nrd.nhtsa.dot.gov/Pubs/812 102.pdf. Of the more than 32,000 lives claimed annualy in motor-vehicle crashes, nearly a third involve intoxicated drivers. *Id.* at 7. The costs of this bloodshed are staggering, ranging annualy from \$50 billion to more than \$200 billion (depending on the method of calculation). *Id.* at 2.

Wisconsin in particular "has long experienced a dismal level of carnage due to drunken driving." Bill Lueders, Why Wisconsin Has Weak Laws on Drunken Driving, Urban Milwaukee http://urbanmilwaukee.com/2014/11/ (2014),10/under-the-influence-why-wisconsin-has-weak-laws-on-dru nken-driving/. Between 2003 and 2012, 2,577 people died in Wisconsin in crashes involving a drunk driver. fatality rate for all age groups—and, in particular, the 20-andunder and the 35-and-up categories—exceeded the national average. See Center for Disease Control, Sobering Facts: Drunk Driving in Wisconsin (2014), http://www.cdc.gov/motor vehiclesafety/pdf/impaired_driving/drunk_driving_in_wi.pdf. The percentage of adults in Wisconsin who report intoxicated driving is a considerable 3.1 percent, much higher than the national rate of 1.9 percent. *Id.* Four years ago, the State had the sixteenth highest percentage of fatal, drunk-driving-related crashes. *See* NHTSA, 2012 Motor Vehicle Crashes, Traffic Safety Facts, 6 (November 2013), http://www-nrd.nhtsa.dot.gov/Pubs/811856.pdf. Although those numbers have decreased in recent years, the "scourge" of drunk driving in Wisconsin remains. *State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 33, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986).

II. Wisconsin's Implied-Consent Statute

Like every other State, Wisconsin promotes traffic safety by imposing a myriad of conditions on the privilege of operating a motor vehicle on public roads. All motorists in Wisconsin, for example, must have a valid driver's license "in his or her immediate possession at all times when operating a motor vehicle." Wis. Stat. § 343.18(1). To obtain a Wisconsin-issued license, an applicant must pass "knowledge test," which requires an understanding of, among other things, "[t]he rules of the road," "[s]afe driving practices," and "[t]he effects of alcohol or other controlled substance use in connection with the operation of motor vehicles." Wis. Admin. Code. § Trans. 104.03(5); Wis. Stat. § 343.16(1). Vehicles in Wisconsin must be registered, Wis. Stat. § 341.04, and must be covered by "a motor vehicle liability policy," Wis. Stat. § 344.62. And, of course, all drivers must obey the "rules of the road." They must, for example,

drive on the right side of the road and ensure that the volume of their car radios is not excessive. *See* Wis. Stat. Ch. 346.

States also promote highway safety by drawing on "a broad range of legal tools to enforce their drunk-driving laws and to secure BAC evidence without undertaking warrantless nonconsensual blood draws." *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. at 1566 (plurality). "For example, all 50 States have adopted implied consent laws that require motorists, as a condition of operating a motor vehicle within the State, to consent to BAC testing if they are arrested or otherwise detained on suspicion of a drunk-driving offense." *Id.*; *see* Wis. Stat. § 343.305.²

In Wisconsin, "consent is implied as a condition of the privilege of operating a motor vehicle upon state highways." State v. Zielke, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 48, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987). Under the State's implied-consent law, "[a]ny person who... drives or operates a motor vehicle upon the public highways of this state... is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity in his or her blood or breath" of alcohol or other controlled substances "when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer" under certain subsections or "when required to do so" under certain others. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2). Under the subsection relevant here, the statute permits testing "if a law enforcement officer has

² Although Wis. Stat. § 343.305 covers other kinds of intoxication, this brief will refer to the statute's application to drunk driving in particular.

probable cause to believe that" the suspect has committed a drunk-driving offense, such as operating a motor vehicle under the influence of intoxicanting or controlled substance. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b); see Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). The law enforcement agency "may designate which of the tests shall be administered first." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2).

The statute applies differently depending on whether the suspect, having consented to a search by driving, is physically "capable" of withdrawing that consent when the police wish to administer the test. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b). If he is, then the statute affords him an opportunity to do so. The police must advise the conscious suspect of "the nature of the driver's implied consent." State v. Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d 213, ¶ 15, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999). Reading from the "Informing the Accused" form, the police convey (among other facts) that (1) the suspect has been arrested or detained for a drunk-driving offense or is the operator of a vehicle that was involved in an accident that caused substantial bodily harm (or worse) to a person; (2) the officer "now wants to test one or more samples of [the suspect's] breath, blood or urine to determine the concentration of alcohol or drugs in [the suspect's system;" (3) if the test shows intoxication, the suspect's "operating privilege will be suspended"; (4) "[i]f [the suspect] refuse[s] to take any test that this [officer] requests, [the suspect's] operating privilege will be revoked and [the suspect] will be subject to other penalties"; (5) "[t]he test results or the fact that [the suspect] refused testing can be

used" against the suspect in court; and (6) the suspect may take alternative tests if he takes "all the requested tests." Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4); see State v. Luedtke, 2015 WI 42, ¶ 11, 362 Wis. 2d 1, 863 N.W.2d 592.

But if instead the suspect is found "unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing consent [he] is presumed not to have withdrawn consent," and "one or more samples" may be taken from him. Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(b). Two features of this text are significant. First, the law does not conclusively establish that drivers found unconscious have not in fact withdrawn their consent; it simply presumes it. Second, the law makes clear that implied consent under § 343.305(2) may be withdrawn, and that, if it has been withdrawn, §343.305(2) simply does not apply.

The unconscious-driver "presum[ption]" is thus rebuttable. When the police find a suspect "unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing consent," they must "presume" that he has not in fact withdrawn the consent manifested by his driving—unless the circumstances convey to the officer that, when the driver had been "capable of withdrawing his consent" under §343.305(2), he had done so. *Cf. State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶ 27, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371 ("[E]ven if the suspect has apparently complied with the implied consent statute and provided an initial chemical sample, there may later be an issue as to whether the defendant" withdrew his consent). In any event, the officer need not read an unconscious driver the consent

warnings and "request" a sample, Wis. Stat. § 343.305(4), since that "would be useless." *State v. Disch*, 129 Wis. 2d 225, 233, 385 N.W.2d 140 (1986).

Implied-consent laws sometimes impose "consequences when a motorist withdraws consent" and thereby reneges on his commitment under the statute, which he makes in exchange for the privilege of driving. McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1566 (plurality). An implied-consent law can "serve its purpose [only] if there are penalties for [] revoking consent." State v. Brooks, 113 Wis. 2d 347, 356, 335 N.W.2d 354 (1983). In some States, those consequences are "significant," McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1566 (plurality), such as criminal liability. But Wisconsin "attempts to overcome the possibility of refusal" merely "by the threat of . . . license revocation," which is a civil penalty. State v. Zielke, 137 Wis. 2d 39, 48, 403 N.W.2d 427 (1987). If a motorist has been arrested for a drunk-driving offense and "refuses to take a test," the officer must prepare a "notice of intent to revoke . . . the person's operating privilege," Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9)(a), the filing of which begins a suspension proceeding in court.

III. Facts

In this appeal, "very few facts matter, and they are uncontested." App. 2. A police officer was dispatched to the scene of an accident involving a motorcycle and a deer. The deer was dead. The driver of the motorcycle, David Howes, was seriously injured and unconscious. He "smelled of

alcohol." App. 2. An ambulance took him to the hospital, where, still unconscious, he was hooked up to a respirator. App. 2–3.

The officer had probable cause to believe that Howes was intoxicated, and he arrested him at the hospital. App. 53. The officer read from the "Informing the Accused" form, which explained the nature of Howes' offense, the officer's interest in obtaining samples of his breath, blood, or urine pursuant to the implied-consent law, and Howes' opportunity to refuse. App. 54. Still unconscious, Howes did not respond. App. 54. Relying on Howes' unrevoked implied consent to testing, the officer directed a phlebotomist to draw a sample of his blood. The test showed a BAC of 0.11. App. 3.

IV. Procedural History

Howes was charged with operating a motor vehicle under the influence (fourth offense) and operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration (fourth offense). App. 3. Howes moved to suppress the result of the blood-draw test, arguing that the officer had lacked probable cause to arrest him and that, in any event, the officer had failed to obtain his consent for the warrantless search under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution,

"violat[ing]" *McNeely*.³ Def.'s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Suppress, 4. Supplementing his motion to suppress, Howes added the argument that the relevant unconscious-suspect provisions of the implied-consent law were unconstitutional (facially and as applied) under the Fourth Amendment per *McNeely*. Suppl. to Def.'s Mot. to Suppress, 2–3.

At a hearing, the circuit court ruled that the officer had probable cause to arrest, App. 91, but that the unconscioussuspect provisions of the statute were unconstitutional as applied and on their face. App. 99–103. According to the court, when those provisions apply, the "officer can test, period"; the motorist's implied consent is conclusive, not presumptive. App. 99; see App. 26. It concluded that, because the law created an "irrebutable presumption" of implied consent, which the court thought fell short of legitimate "actual" consent, it could not "be reconciled with the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement." App. 26. The court relied on the court of appeals' decision in State v. Padley, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 26, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867, which it read to require "actual" consent of a conscious suspect before a search. The court referred to dictum in *Padley* raising doubts that the implied consent of a driver found unconscious amounted to "actual consent." App. 100. Finally, the court

 $^{^3}$ "[T]his court interprets [these] two constitutional provisions in concert." *State v. Krajewski*, 2002 WI 97, ¶ 18 n. 9, 255 Wis.2d 98, 648 N.W.2d 385. For convenience, this brief will use "Fourth Amendment" as shorthand for both provisions.

held that, under *McNeely*, exigent circumstances did not justify the search. App. 102.

The State filed a motion for reconsideration. The court denied it, reiterating its conclusions in a written order. *See* App. 26–33.

The State filed a notice of appeal in District IV of the court of appeals. After the appeal had been briefed, District IV certified the case for this Court. It stated that the appeal "presents a single recurring issue: whether provisions in Wisconsin's implied consent law authorizing a warrantless blood draw from an unconscious suspect violate the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution." App. 1. In particular, it wrote, "the issue is whether the 'implied consent,' deemed to have occurred before a defendant is a suspect, is voluntary consent for purposes of the consent exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement." App. 1. The court acknowledged that its own case law was "muddled" on this point, admitting, for example, that *Padley* "appears to conflict" with a prior decision. App. 13–17.

This Court took jurisdiction of the case on April 7, 2016.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court "independently appl[ies] the constitutional principles to the facts as found to determine" whether the Fourth Amendment has been violated. *State v. Phillips*, 218 Wis. 2d 180, 195, 577 N.W.2d 794 (1998).

In facial and as-applied challenges to the constitutionality of a Wisconsin statute, the claimaint must prove that the "statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." *In re Gwenevere T.*, 2011 WI 30, ¶ 47, 333 Wis. 2d 273, 797 N.W.2d 854. To prevail on a facial challenge, the claimant also must show that the law "cannot be constitutionally enforced under any circumstances." *Id.* ¶ 46.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- I. The question in this appeal has already been answered. The U.S. Supreme Court has concluded that it is "fair" to assume that unconscious motorists have impliedly consented to BAC testing, Breithaupt v. Abram, 352 U.S. 432, 435 n.2 (1957), that implied consent laws are "unquestionably legitimate," South Dakota v. Neville, 459 U.S. 553, 560 (1983), and that they are effective "legal tools" for securing evidence of "without intoxication undertaking warrantless nonconsensual blood draws," McNeely, 133 S. Ct. at 1566 (plurality) (emphasis added). This Court, too, has indicated in more than seven cases that a motorist impliedly consents by driving, including in a decision implicitly holding that, upon arrest, a driver has already "consent[ed] . . . to submit" to BAC testing under the statute, State v. Neitzel, 95 Wis. 2d 191, 201, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980), contrary to dictum in Padley, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 26 n.10.
- II. Even if the question were open, suspicion-based BAC tests of impliedly consenting motorists are not

"unreasonable searches" under the Fourth Amendment. Basic search-and-seizure doctrine provides that a defendant may imply consent to a search by conduct, and that implied consent is valid if not coerced. Those exercising the privilege of driving on Wisconsin highways are on notice that their conduct implies consent. And, like the activity of driving itself, that consent is entirely voluntary: The statute permits any motorist, even a conscious suspect found unconscious at the time of arrest, to withdraw it. Accordingly, many courts in other states have upheld warrantless searches of impliedly consenting drivers in drunk-driving cases.

Traditional standards of reasonableness confirm the constitutionality of these searches. As the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court have repeatedly stated, the State has a particularly compelling interest in punishing and deterring drunk driving, and the consensual tests' intrusion on privacy is minimal.

III. The Supreme Court's holding in *McNeely* is not to the contrary. *McNeely* concerned an entirely different exception to the warrant requirement: the exigent-circumstances doctrine. Even if *McNeely* silently disapproves of any *per se* rule in consent cases, the unconscious-driver provisions of Wisconsin's implied-consent law do not create one. Nor should this Court. Rather, consistent with the implied-consent statute's plain meaning, the Court should hold that drunk-driving suspects found unconscious are

presumed not to have withdrawn their consent, unless the circumstances suggest otherwise.

ARGUMENT

Howes asserts that the warrantless testing of his blood under the implied-consent statute violated the Fourth Amendment. That Amendment recognizes "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons . . . against unreasonable searches and seizures" and provides that warrants shall not issue without probable cause. U.S. Const. amend. IV. But "the text of the Fourth Amendment does not specify when a search warrant must be obtained." *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 459 (2011). Although a warrant is generally required for a search of a person, *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1558, "[t]he touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness," State v. Purtell, 2014 WI 101, ¶ 21, 358 Wis. 2d 212, 851 N.W.2d 417 (quoting *United States v. Knights*, 534 U.S. 112, 118 (2001)). "[C]ertain categories of permissible warrantless searches have long been recognized" as reasonable, and "[c]onsent searches" are "one of the[m]." Fernandez v. California, 134 S. Ct. 1126, 1132 (2014).

"The practice of making searches based on consent is by no means a disfavored one." 2 LaFave et al., *Crim. Proc.* § 3.10(a) (4th ed.). Indeed, "[i]n a society based on law, the concept of agreement and consent should be given a weight and dignity of its own." *United States v. Drayton*, 536 U.S. 194, 207 (2002). Accordingly, "[c]onsent searches are part of

the standard investigatory techniques of law enforcement agencies" and are "a constitutionally permissible and wholly legitimate aspect of effective police activity." *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 228, 231–32 (1973).

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