RECEIVED 06-30-2016

No. 14AP1870-CR

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT,

v.

DAVID W. HOWES, DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT.

On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable John W. Markson, Presiding, Case No. 2013CF1692

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT, DAVID W. HOWES

Mark A. Eisenberg State Bar Number: 01013078 Jack S. Lindberg State Bar Number: 1083046 EISENBERG LAW OFFICES, S.C. 308 E. Washington Avenue P. O. Box 1069 Madison, WI 53701-1069 (608) 256-8356 mark@eisenberglaw.org

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent David W. Howes

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT WIS STAT. §§ 343.305(3)(ar) and (b) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL PER THE DICTATES OF *PADLEY* AND *MCNEELY*. THEREFORE, THE BLOOD TEST RESULTS SHOULD BE SUPPRESSED IN THIS CASE.

A. <u>Introduction and Standard of Review applicable</u> to a Circuit Court's finding that a statute is <u>unconstitutional</u>.

Ultimately, this case turns on whether Wis. Stat. \$ 343.305(3)(ar) and (b) are constitutional.² The constitutionality of a statutory scheme is a question

As far as he understands the distinction, Mr. Howes challenged the constitutionality of the "unconscious driver" provision on its face and the Circuit Court agreed that the law cannot be enforced under any circumstances. State v. Padley, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 35, 354 Wis.2d at 569. Some factual background is necessary to provide context for how the controversy arose, but Mr. Howes believes his challenge is "as-applied" only insofar as his Fourth Amendment rights were personally violated by the State's conduct under the general auspices of the provisions in question when the blood draw was performed. In other words, he does not believe that any variation in circumstances (except for the crucial one-incapacitation, which brings him within the purview of the provision in the first place) would materially affect the analysis. The State, at footnote 9 of its brief, refutes this notion and asserts that the statute could apply in a situation where no search is ultimately permitted— where an unconscious driver is discovered under circumstances that indicate that he had previously withdrawn his "revocable" implied consent. Presumably, the State is referring to the possibility mentioned earlier in its brief that an unconscious driver *could* revoke his consent by carrying a notarized letter in his front pocket objecting to a search. Howes submits that this notion, while imaginative, is unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment to the point of absurdity and highlights the unworkability of the State's theoretical consent scheme. In effect, this would mean that an unconscious driver

of law subject to de novo review on appeal. *State v. Ninham*, 2011 WI 33, ¶ 44, 333 Wis.2d 335, 360, 797 N.W.2d 451, 464. A statute enjoys a presumption of constitutionality that can only be overcome by a showing or proof that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Smith*, 2010 WI 16, ¶ 8, 323 Wis.2d 377, 387, 780 N.W.2d 90, 95. A reviewing court may find that only a portion of a particular statute or scheme is unconstitutional, therein permitting the remaining valid portions of that statute to continue in effect. *In Interest of Hezzie R.*, 219 Wis.2d 848, 863, 580 N.W.2d 660, 664 (1998).

In terms of summary factual findings immediately relevant to this appeal, the Court found that the law enforcement officer ordered the blood draw of an incapacitated Howes without a warrant, and that the facts did not lend themselves to any arguable exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement other than the erroneous one advanced by the State that was premised upon implied consent. App. 26-27, 100-102. It discussed the nuance of "implied consent" in explicating *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, 354 Wis.2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 592, and reviewed the permissions granted by §§343.305(3)(ar) and (b) against the backdrop of *McNeely* and its contemporary vivification of the precepts originally expounded in *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 88 S.Ct. 1826 (1966). App. 28-31, 99-102. In doing so, the Circuit Court explicitly acknowledged the presumption of constitutionality and the heavy burden necessary to overcome it before affirmatively finding that the "unconscious driver" implied consent provisions

would only have the ability to revoke his or her implied consent as a matter of anticipation, and that revocation would hang in indefinite suspension (without inducing penalty) until circumstances arose that would allow it to take effect (presumably triggering a penalty). This onerous impracticality hardly constitutes a meaningful, practicable ability to limit or revoke consent. Such ability is a necessary element of consent that is valid under the Fourth Amendment. See *State v. Villarreal*, 475 S.W.3d 784, 799 (Tex. Crim. App. 2014), reh'g granted (Feb. 25, 2015), cert. denied, No. 15-1063, 2016 WL 707952 (U.S. June 28, 2016) (citing *Florida v. Jimeno*, 500 U.S. 248, 252, 111 S.Ct. 1801, 114 L.Ed.2d 297 (1991). As a matter of both practicality and constitutional principle then, Howes submits that, for an unconscious driver, consent is effectively irrevocable and thereby invalid under the Fourth Amendment.

did not pass constitutional muster, as Howes alleged. App. 27, 98-103.

The District IV Court of Appeals certified the case for this Court, stating that the central issue presented is "whether provisions in Wisconsin's implied consent law authorizing a warrantless blood draw from an unconscious suspect violate the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution." App. 1. It homed in on the issue of whether implied consent, deemed to have occurred before a defendant is ever a suspect, is voluntary consent for purposes of the consent exception of the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement. App. 1. The Court noted that the parties agreed that this statutory justification for warrantless blood draws is a categorical exception to the warrant requirement, but differed as to whether such exception satisfies the Fourth Amendment. App. 2. After touching on McNeelv and some of the "muddled" case law concerning consent, the Court ultimately concluded that "[t]he question seems to boil down to whether courts should apply the normal case-by-case totality-of-the-circumstances test, as Howes argues, or instead conclude that the scheme is, in effect, a permissible per se exception, as the State argues. App. 23.

To put it plainly, Howes believes that the Circuit Court got it right with its original determination— that (1) *Padley* provides a clear elucidation of the constitutional implications of implied consent, and therein, that the *Padley* distinction between "implied" consent and "actual" consent renders the use of implied consent to authorize warrantless blood draws from unconscious persons violative of the Fourth Amendment. Furthermore, and expanding on the Circuit Court's logic, he believes (2) that *McNeely* stands for the general proposition that per se exceptions to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement are prohibited, and accordingly, because the "unconscious driver" provisions of Wisconsin's implied consent laws effectively operate as such a categorical exception, the provisions under controversy here are unconstitutional. That being the case, Howes submits (3) that the Circuit Court's judgment should be affirmed, and that no good faith exception to the exclusionary rule applies.

- B. <u>Wisconsin's implied consent provisions</u> <u>authorizing a suspicion-based warrantless blood</u> <u>draw of an unconscious driver are</u> <u>unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment.</u>
 - 1. <u>Padley correctly delineates the bounds of</u> <u>implied consent with respect to the Fourth</u> <u>Amendment.</u>

Forced blood draws conducted by law enforcement constitute "searches" under the Fourth Amendment and are therefore required to be reasonable. *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 23, 354 Wis.2d at 562. In the absence of an established exception, warrantless searches are per se unreasonable and are therefore unlawful. *Id.* This is true even when the search is conducted following a lawful arrest. *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1558, 185 L.Ed. 696. In the context of a blood draw, the exceptions to the warrant requirement are more or less limited to (a) consent, or (b) a showing of exigent circumstances.³ There is no claim that exigent circumstances for purposes of exception to the warrant requirement presented in Mr. Howes' case. Thus, the State premises its argument on its (erroneous) construction of "consent".

The State incorrectly interprets the notion of "implied consent" as an invasive literal permission allowing warrantless blood draws in the absence of circumstances indicating an intent to revoke that permission rather than merely an implicit agreement to be subject to codified penalties for non-compliance.⁴

⁴ Wis. Stat. § 343.305(2) reads:

IMPLIED CONSENT. Any person who is on duty time with respect to a commercial motor vehicle or drives or operates a motor vehicle upon the public highways of this state, or in those areas enumerated in s. 346.61, is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath,

³ Howes submits that the Supreme Court, in *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, No. 14-1468, 2016 WL 3434398, at *5 (U.S. June 23, 2016), conclusively determined that a blood draw may not be administered under the "search incident to arrest" exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement.

It persists in doing so despite the Court of Appeals' discussion in *Padley*, where the Court explicitly clarified the definition of implied consent in finding that Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2. (analogue/companion to the statutes at issue here) did not actually authorize police to conduct a search, and that "implied consent' alone [cannot] 'serve as a valid exception to the warrant requirement." 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 37, 354 Wis.2d at 569. The *Padley* Court explained the limited scope of consequential permissions authorized under "implied consent," stating:

[i]t is incorrect to say that a driver who consents to a blood draw after receiving the advisement contained in the "Informing the Accused" form has given "implied consent." If a driver consents under that circumstance, that consent is actual consent, not implied consent. If the driver refuses to consent, he or she thereby withdraws "implied consent" and accepts the consequences of that choice. See, e.g., *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. at 1566 (Implied consent laws "impose significant consequences when a motorist withdraws consent."); *State v. Neitzel*, 95 Wis.2d 191, 203, 289 N.W.2d 828 (1980) ("The entire tenor of the implied consent law [WIS. STAT. § 343.305 (1975)] is ... that consent has already been given [at the time a person

blood or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity in his or her blood or breath, of alcohol, controlled substances, controlled substance analogs or other drugs, or any combination of alcohol, controlled substances, controlled substance analogs and other drugs, when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer under sub. (3) (a) or (am) or when required to do so under sub. (3) (ar) or (b). Any such tests shall be administered upon the request of a law enforcement officer. The law enforcement agency by which the officer is employed shall be prepared to administer, either at its agency or any other agency or facility, 2 of the 3 tests under sub. (3) (a), (am), or (ar), and may designate which of the tests shall be administered first.

The penalties for failure to comply with these provisions are outlined at length in \$ 343.305(9)-(10m).

obtains a license] and cannot be withdrawn without the imposition of the legislatively imposed sanction of mandatory suspension."); see also *State v. Krajewski*, 2002 WI 97, ¶ 25, 255 Wis.2d 98, 648 N.W.2d 385 (explaining that a driver can "withdraw[] consent" by "refus[ing] to provide a requested sample for testing")...

the implied consent law is explicitly designed to allow the driver, and not the police officer, to make the choice as to whether the driver will give or decline to give actual consent to a blood draw when put to the choice between consent or automatic sanctions. Framed in the terms of "implied consent," choosing the "yes" option affirms the driver's implied consent and constitutes actual consent for the blood draw. Choosing the "no" option acts to withdraw the driver's implied consent and establishes that the driver does not give actual consent. Withdrawing consent by choosing the "no" option is an unlawful action, in that it is penalized by "refusal violation" sanctions, even though it is a choice the driver can make...

[i]n this context, § 343.305(3)(ar)2. does not authorize searches, instead it authorizes police to require drivers to choose between giving actual consent to a blood draw, or withdrawing "implied consent" and suffering implied-consent-law sanctions.

Id. at ¶¶ 38-40.

Though *Padley* did not involve an incapacitated driver, the Court there– in a footnote to the above-excerpted passage— acknowledged the potential implications that its analysis of implied consent might present in such a context. *Id.* at ¶ 39 fn.10.⁵ In essence, the Court presciently observed that, as

⁵ In its entirety, footnote 10 to paragraph 39 reads:

We acknowledge that there may be tension between the case law we summarize here and language in the implied consent law as amended by 2009 Wisconsin Act 163, which establishes that, at least in the context of

written, the fact that "implied consent" is transmogrified into actual consent by the "unconscious driver" provisions of the implied consent laws may provide an exception to its general holding that the informed consent statute provision it was reviewing was constitutional (insofar as it applied to conscious persons with the capacity to consent or refuse). Ultimately, *Padley* affirmed the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2. <u>only</u> to the extent that it allows law enforcement officers to compel a suspected offender to submit to a blood test by presenting them with the choice of compliance or sanctions. It did not imply that a forced blood draw falls into the definition of implied consent law sanctions, nor did it validate any notion that implied consent may serve as a valid exception to the warrant requirement in the absence of express, contemporaneous consent to draw blood.⁶

The State cites numerous cases indicating that implied consent statutory schemes are generally valid, but none that acutely consider the question of whether implied consent is tantamount to actual consent permitting a warrantless blood draw under circumstances similar to those presented here. In addition to some Wisconsin case law touching upon the general mechanics of the implied consent statutes' refusal procedures, the State mentions *State v. Scales*, 64 Wis.2d 494, 219 N.W.2d 286 (1974), which briefly discusses the presumptive consent of unconscious drivers, but

incapacitated drivers, "implied consent" is a sufficient basis on which to proceed with a warrantless search. See WIS. STAT. § 343.305(3)(ar)2. Under § 343.305(3)(ar)2., a driver involved in an accident resulting in a death or great bodily harm who police believe committed a traffic law violation, and who is "unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing consent [,] is presumed not to have withdrawn consent" and a blood draw "may be administered" to the driver. Thus, at least in the context of an incapacitated driver and in the limited context of § 343.305(3)(ar)2., implied consent is deemed the functional equivalent of actual consent. However, we need not address this tension further because, in the instant case, Padley has not called any court's attention to the incapacitated driver scenario and there is no question that Padley was treated by the deputy as a conscious driver who could give actual consent. Having acknowledged this tension, we will not reference the incapacitated driver aspect of § 343.305(3)(ar)2. in this opinion each time that it could represent an exception to our analysis.

The State largely ignores existence of *Padley* despite the Circuit Court's reliance upon it and the certifying Court of Appeals' intimation that *Padley* more closely controls the issue at stake here than broad statements about the validity of implied consent laws and penalization for non-compliance in general. App. 13-23.⁷ In doing so, the State seems to miss the proverbial boat entirely: implied consent laws and penalties imposed for noncompliance with those laws are generally permissible, but implied consent alone cannot constitute de facto permission to conduct a warrantless blood draw. The effective permissions of "implied consent" cannot be construed as broadly as the State would make them out to be.

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